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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

December 30, 2002
MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON . 21
STAFF DIRECTOR
ROBERT J. COSTA —#CI__
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON, - ~ %~
ASSISTANT STAFF DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS-DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2002 JULY
QUARTERLY REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2002 July
Quarterly Report. The first list represents committees that have paid the civil money
penalty and the second list represents those that have not paid. The committees that have
not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the Commission’s RTB

finding to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 CE.R. 111.34 and 11 CF.R. 111.40, the Commissicn shall
send a final determination notice 1o those respondents that have either paid or not paid the

civil money penaity.

RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political commiitees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate leiters.
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID
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COMMITTEES THAT HAVE NOT PAID
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final AF #6590
Determination Recommendation for the
2002 July Quarterly Report.
Q"e.
= CERTIFICATION
ipe
:ﬁ I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
[
=+ Commigsion, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
S
fis the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
¥
i following actions in AF #650:
ﬁ
: 1. Make a final determination in AF #650 that
g; Friends of Martin Collen and Chris Rosebrough,
e as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) and

asgess a civil money penalty of $700.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

R 2003 % Y Upee.

Date Mary W:?Dd@e
Secret&ry of the Commission
Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commisgion: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.

viv
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of )
)
Administrative Fines Final Y AF #6511
Determination Recommendation for the )
2002 July Quarterly Report. )
g CERTIFICATION
e
w I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Electionm

Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003

:
fif the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

13

& following actions in AF #651:

ﬁ

e

s 1., Make a final determination in AF #651 that
%g Cleve Mobley For Congress and Thomas Jones,
i as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) and

asgess a civil money penalty of $2400.00.

2, Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commnissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
Qﬁ’;;::ﬂ? 2002 % %M“

Secre ¥ of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.

viv




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

= In the Matter of )
)
Administrative Fines Final ) AF #656
Determination Recommendation for the )
2002 July Quarterly Report. )
;f CERTIFICATION
?z I, Mary W. Dove, Sec¢retary of the Federal Election
A
% Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
i the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
B
& following actions in AF #656:
o
: 1. Make a final determination in AF #656 that
2; Borski For Congress Cormmittee and Anthony

Szuszczewicz, as Treasurer, violated
2 U.8.C. § 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty of $975.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reporte Analysis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commisgioners Mason, Mcbonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

2 03 %%é&m
Date Mary W./Dove
Secretffry of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Cormission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for wvote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m,

viv
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL  ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Finea Final AF #658

Determination Recommendation for the
2002 . July Quarterly Report.

N e

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on Januaxry 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

following actions in AF #658:

1. Make a final determination in AF #658 that
Phil Sudan For Congress and Tracy M. Sudan,
as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) and
agsess a civil money penalty of $500.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated
Decembexr 30, 2002.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

8 2003

Mary W/ Dove
Secrethry of the Commission

Date

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for wvote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.

viv



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

}
)
Adminigtrative Fines Final } AF #671
)
2002 July Quarterly Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
following actions in AF #671:

1. Make a final determination in AF #671 that

Dan Hagood For Congress, Inc. and James W. Sargent,

ag Treagurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty of $8000.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commissioners Mason, McDenald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

D, 2. Ame

Date Mary W

Secre +'4 of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tuez., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.

vEv
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.BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

)
)
Administrative Fines Final } AF #652
)
2002 July Quarterly Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Electicn
Commiegsion, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
following actions in AF #652:

1. Make a final determination in AF #652 that

Campbell for Congress 2002 and Esther Rauch,
as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) and

agsess a civil money penalty of $550.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated

December 30, 2002.

Commissioners Mason, McDenald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

.. Date
Secreta¥y of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.

lrd
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

)
)
Administrative Fines Final ) AF #8786
)
2002 July Quarterly Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of §-0 to take the

following actions in AF #676:
1. Make a final determination in AF #676 that
Patriot PAC and Audrey Mullen, as Treasurer,

violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 (a) and assess a civil
money penalty of $350.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

test

Date;? Mary W.
Secretdry of the Commigsion

;lam g 2003 ng % [Dege

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.

lxrd
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

)
)
Administrative Fines Final Y AP #680
)
2002 July Quarterly Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commigsion decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

following actions in AF #680:

1. Make a final determination in AF #680 that
Health Plan PAC of the American Assoc. of
Health Plan FKA Group Health Assoc. and Robert
Borchardt, as Treasurer, viclated 2 U.S5.C.

§ 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
of §1,100.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated

December 30, 2002.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

2002 T, YA

Mary W;éﬁbée
Secreta?y of the Commisgsion

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for wvote: Tues., Jan., 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
Administrative Fineg Final XF #682
Determination Recommendation for the
2002 July Quarterly Report.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

following actionsg in AF #682:

1. Make a final determination in AF #682 that
Office and Professional Employees Intermational
Union-Voice of the Electora and Carol Dupuis, as
Treagurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) and assess
a civil money penalty of $1,650.00.

e o GIE WRBHY . Z B0

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated

December 30, 2002.
Commissioners Mascn, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decisicn.

Attest:

@jﬁa&q Y Lo

Mary Wé/Dove
Secretfry of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.

lrxrd
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

)
)
Administrative Fines Final } AF #6394
}
2002 July Quarterly Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary cf the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

following actions in AF #694:

1. Make a final determination in AF #694 that
Florida Sugar Cane League PAC and James E.
Terrill, as Treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C.

5 434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty
of $5,625.00.

2, Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated

December 30, 2002.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

- ~ -
,QQ : 205 % ﬂﬁw—(
v/ - Date Mary Dove
- Secrefary of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

)
)
Administrative Fines Final )  AF #695
)
2002 July Quarterly Reporxrt. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that om January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
following actions in AF #695:

1. Make a final determination in AF #695 that

R.I. Republican Party and Jonathan Whesler,
as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. § 434(a)

and assess a civil money penalty of $3,500.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reporte Analysisg Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commissioners Mason, McDonzald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

8 2003 Wts - e

Mary W. Pove
Secreta¥y of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
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THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE# _ (52, L 51, (52 LS,
LEE, ), LMY, €T b%0 , LS, LE2 LSY, LES5, LTl LT,

b98) Lo, 644, 695.



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMNISSION

In the Mattexr of

Adminigtrative Fines Final AF #674

Determination Recommendation for the
2002 July Quarterly Report.

F
E’ﬁ CERTIFICATION
;% I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
E
g Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
L
i the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
‘ £
% §E following actions in AF #674:
L= _
‘fj i. Make a final determination in AF #674 that
ki3 " » .
P Hispanic Democratic Organization (HDO) Federal
e PAC and Gilbert Delgado, as Treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. § 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
of $500.00.
| 2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended

in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commisgsioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Attest:

00 (’/7,7244«4 U o

Date Mary 2/! Dove
Secrethry of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for wvote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
Administrative Fines Final AF #681
Determination Recommendation for the
2002 July Quarterly Report.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
following actions in AF #681:

1. Make a final determination in AF #681 that

Indiana Dental PAC and Raymond M. Maddox,
as Treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S8.C. § 434(a) and
agsess a civil money penalty of $§1,000.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended

in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commiggioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decisiom.

Q@n@dmﬂ?ﬂﬁdﬁ %&%»&M

Date Mary Dove
Secre ry of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
1lrd



- BEFORE ' THE 'FEDERAL "ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

)
)
Administrative Fines Final ) AF #684
)
2002 July Quarterly Report. )

-CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commisasion, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the
following actions in AF #684:

1. Make a final determination in AF #684 that

Teamsters Joint Council No. 53 Political
Action Committee Drive and Jchn J. Jackson,
as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) and

assess a civil money penalty of $650.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysgis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

Date / Mary W.

Secretéky of the Commissicn
Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tueg., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

)
)
Administrative Fines Final ) AF #685
)
2002 July Quarterly Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commigsion, do hereby certify that on Januvary 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

following actions in AF #685:

1. Make a final determination in AF #685 that
Teco Energy, Inc. Employees' PAC and Robin J.
Hastings, ae Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
of $1,000.00.

2, Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated

December 30, 2002,
Commissiconers Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

%%Zﬂm

Mary W ove
Secret of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mom., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

-

In the Matfgr df )
T )
Administrative Fines Final ) AF #686
Determination Recommendation for the )
2002 July;Quarterly Report. )
j . CERTIFICATION
[ B
;% I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
f: Commisgion, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003

the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

i following actions in AF #686:

1. Make a final determination in AF #686 that
Traditional Values Coalition PAC and Beverly R.
Sheldon, as Treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C.

§ 434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty
of $350.00,

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysies Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commi.ssioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
' 2003 % 2 Mo
Date // ! Mary W.

Secretgty of the Commission
Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

)
)
Administrative Fines Final ) AF #687
)
2002 July Quarterly Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commigsion, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

following actions in AF #687:

1. Make a final determination in AF #687 that
United Assoc./Journeymen/Apprent/Plumb/Pipe/
Fitt. Ind. of the US/Can Loc. 447 and Harry M.
Rotz, as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. § 434({(a)
and assess a civil money penalty of $350.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated

December 30, 2002.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Secretdfy of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.

Circulated to. the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
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‘BEFORE“THE FEDERAL ELECTIGN COMMISSION
In the Mattérlaf

Determination Recommendation for the
2002 July Quarterly Report.

)

. }
Adminigtrative Fineg Final )} AF #688

}

)

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

following actions in AF #688:

1. Make a final determination in AF #688 that
Democratic Party of Orange County and Kyle
Crenshaw, as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty
of $%00.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Received in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for wvote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Determination Recommendation for the

)
)
Adminigtrative Fines Final ) AF #6390
)
2002 July Quarterly Report. )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on January 7, 2003
the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

following actioms in AF #690:

1. Make a final determination in AF #690 that
South Carcolina Republican Party and Glen
O'Connell, as Treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
of $1,500.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Memorandum dated
December 30, 2002,

Commissioners Mason, MgDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

9,;1,,@&2? § A293
Date

Receivad in the Secretariat: Mon., Dec. 30, 2002 3:36 p.m.
Circulated to the Commissicn: Tues., Dec. 31, 2002 11:00 a.m.
Deadline for vote: Tues., Jan. 07, 2003 4:00 p.m.

1xd



mEE .08 .25, 3195

SUBSEQUENT TO THE 12/30/02 MEMORANDUM TO THE COMMISSION IN
WHICH THEY WERE LISTED AS NOT HAVING PAID, COMMITTEES IN
THE FOLLOWING CASES PAID CIVIL PENALTIES:

652
676
680
682
694
695
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THIS IS THE ENDING OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE

650,651,6b2,6566,668,671
674,676,680,681,682,684

# 685.687.688.690.694.636

DATE FILMED_S/ 8é1 CAMERA No.__‘_/______,_

CAMERAMAN __££]
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